

#### City of Keene, New Hampshire

#### **CONSERVATION COMMISSION**

City Hall

Monday, August 19, 2019

4:30 PM

2<sup>nd</sup> Floor Conference Room

#### **Commission Members**

Alexander Von Plinsky, IV, Chair Eloise Clark, Vice Chair Kenneth Bergman Denise Burchsted Councilor George Hansel Brian Reilly Art Walker Thomas P. Haynes, Alternate Steven Bill, Alternate

- Call to Order
- 2. Approval of Meeting Minutes June 17, 2019
- 3. Informational
  - a. Subcommittee reports
  - b. ARLAC thank you letter
  - c. NH Association of Conservation Commission thank you letter
  - d. Society for the Protection of NH Forests thank you letter
  - e. 75 Swanzey Factory Road Expedited Review
- 4. Discussion Items
  - a. Greater Goose Pond Forest Stewardship Plan Implementation Andy Bohannon, Guest
  - b. Request for letter of support The Nature Conservancy, Surry Mountain Project
  - c. Easement monitoring schedule
  - d. Airport Road habitat
- 5. New or Other Business
- 6. Adjournment Next meeting date Monday, September 16, 2019

THIS PAGE IS INTENDED TO BE BLANK.

#### <u>City of Keene</u> New Hampshire

## CONSERVATION COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

**Monday, June 17, 2019** 

4:30 PM

2nd Floor Conference Room, City Hall

**Members Present:** 

Eloise Clark, Vice Chair Councilor George Hansel Kenneth Bergman Brian Reilly Denise Burchsted Art Walker Thomas Haynes, Alternate Steven Bill, Alternate (arrived late) **Staff Present:** 

Rhett Lamb, Community Development Director/Assistant City Manager

**Members Not Present:** 

Alexander Von Plinsky, IV, Chair

#### 1) Call to Order

Vice Chair Clark called the meeting to order at 4:30 PM.

Mr. Haynes was designated as a voting member in Chair Von Plinsky's absence.

#### 2) Approval of Meeting Minutes – May 20, 2019

Mr. Walker moved to approve the minutes of May 20, 2019, which Mr. Reilly seconded and the Conservation Commission carried unanimously.

#### 3) Informational

#### a. Subcommittee Reports

Mr. Haynes reported that he, Vice Chair Clark, and Mr. Reilly met as members of the Education & Outreach Subcommittee to discuss further ideas for upcoming activities:

- 1. Beech Hill considered a natural history walk in the fall, with a celebration at the trailhead of the Beauregard acquisition. Ledge views will be best in the fall when leaves are down.
- 2. Goose Pond considered a natural history walk/hike with someone like Jeff Littleton, to whom the Subcommittee has reached out. Considered events in every season, such as tracking in the winter. Mr. Haynes awaits the contact for the New England Mountain Bike Association from Mr. Bohannon to discuss opportunities with them. Opportunities incorporating Vice Chair Clark's experience doing natural work with kids are possible in the future. The Subcommittee discussed laying the groundwork to study how timber harvesting will affect birds. Mr. Reilly also reached out to additional contacts at Antioch University.

Mr. Bergman recalled an email from Steve Bill, who offered to lead a geological talk, which he has done a lot with students. Mr. Bergman contacted both Mr. Littleton and Michael Akresh, the new faculty member at Antioch, who is an ornithologist and bird ecologist. Mr. Akresh is still closely affiliated with research groups at UMASS Amherst. He specifically studies how human

landscape modifications effect bird habitat and populations. His research team is working on a model using parameters – like habitat patch size and disturbance – to predict what will happen to the populations of different bird species. They are testing this model with previously collected data and the notion is to make this available though some platform so foresters, the City, and others can better understand bird populations.

Mr. Bergman said Mr. Littleton gave him data for two previous bird surveys at Goose Pond (2014 and 2018). In both years, they surveyed in May and June, the prime nesting and breeding period. He thought they were getting the order of 25-30 species in each study. He was unsure of all details and methodology; he and Mr. Littleton plan to talk in the near future. Laura Deming of the NH Audubon Society conducted the 2018 study; Mr. Bergman was unsure if that work was through a contract with the City. Mr. Akresh told Mr. Bergman that because this study will likely offer little novel data (more so pragmatic monitoring as events unfold) it could be less relevant for a thesis project. Mr. Akresh did say, however, there are Antioch students who could be retained if paid sufficiently for this work. Mr. Bergman said someone like Ms. Deming, who is a real professional, could be a good contractor for this study. Mr. Akresh also suggested the Antioch Bird Club, which consists of people who might be able to go there on a less formal basis and look for particular species at different times of year; Mr. Bergman said this would be better than nothing would. At this point in early stages, Mr. Bergman was unsure if the Commission wants a fund to create an internship for a student project. Antioch students pay for their academic credits, so it is difficult to request free work from students. He will finish going through data and get back to Mr. Littleton about certain procedural matters. Mr. Bergman thinks there could be a need to hire someone to do it in a systematic, responsible, disciplined way with a standardized methodology, which requires expertise. Another option is to seek Antioch Bird Club students or seek citizen scientists. There is baseline data to begin with.

Mr. Haynes asked if the baseline data is strong and recent enough to provide ground level data to push off an official study to generate comparison data for a few more years. Mr. Bergman did not think a bird study is an effort to sustain annually unless there is a different group that adopts this with great enthusiasm. He noted that the cutting would unfold over a period of about 10 years with one or two years off in the middle. The Commission will also need to determine if annual differences are significant enough to indicate a trend. He will explore further and continue discussions with Mr. Littleton and Mr. Akresh.

Vice Chair Clark added that the amount of territory covered in these past studies is unclear. Mr. Bergman has maps to share that demonstrate the 25-point count sites throughout almost every plot in the forest. There are models and methods available to evaluate this data. Mr. Reilly said Steve Lamonde leads the Antioch Bird Club and might be who conducted the study in 2014; Mr. Bergman will ask Mr. Littleton.

Mr. Haynes will bring this topic of a bird study to the Commission again at the next meeting. Next steps will be complicated and he needs to know more about the survey process itself. Mr. Bergman will also bring further research to the Commission at the July meeting; he noted this year's breeding season is almost over so considerations will be for the next few years.

Mr. Lamb reported that that Commission has approximately \$2,000 to spend annually and the Community Development Department has an internship fund for special projects that arise, like this one. There is no one place the Commission can turn to and budget this, unless using Land Use Change Tax Fund, which could be used reasonably for this purpose. He also pointed out that

once the Commission moves into an active timberwork phase, there is a recommendation in the plan to develop an endowment fund. Perhaps the first study before cutting begins might have to be funded from another source, and after an endowment would fund a reasonable regular project like this. Mr. Bergman added that Commission membership turns over and this kind of project should have the purpose and methodology written clearly, so that future Commissions can replicate. Mr. Lamb said that might be the most valuable thing the Commission might do for the future of the forest is to create a protocol that applies whenever and wherever the money allows.

Mr. Haynes reported other possibilities such as the Source to Sea clean-up that the Commission could sponsor. He will follow-up with Mr. Bohannon on his ideas for Dinsmoor and Ladies' Wildwood parks; he suggested the Commission could visit those parks and consider opportunities to mitigate concern that they are developing into monocultures.

Mr. Haynes also stated that the Pocket Park on Church Street looks nice. Vice Chair Clark noted that the ribbon cutting ceremony for the Pocket Park will be soon and she will report the date to the Commission; she is happy to represent the Commission at the event and she hopes other members can attend as well.

Vice Chair Clark reported that the Aquatic Resource Mitigation (ARM) Subcommittee is transitioning into more of a land priority group and Mr. Lamb did not think the Subcommittee had met since the last Commission meeting.

#### 4) <u>Discussion Items</u>

#### a. Wetland Permit – 55 Old Summit Road (Permit by Notification)

Mr. Lamb reported that this Permit by Notification is to clean out a series of surface water retention basins and ditches at the top of the hill at the Transfer Station. The basins (40'-50' diameter) are full of cattails and sediment that have accumulated over time. This permit is for regular maintenance to remove what has collected there; there are no invasive species present and as he knows, they will be cleaned out entirely and returned to their original profile. Vice Chair Clark recalled that the Commission could not provide input on Permits by Notification.

#### b. West Street Dam

Mr. Lamb reported that 30-40 people attended the public forum led by the Rhode Island School of Design research team; they were studying decision making around dams. There were students from the school present, which skewed the attendance. He invited feedback from the Commission members who attended: Chair Von Plinsky, Mr. Haynes, Mr. Bergman, and Mr. Walker. He said Ms. Kessler would distribute final documents for those who could not be there, when she receives them.

Mr. Bergman said he found the process valuable to hear others' perspectives. He asked if the event would be repeated on a larger scale for the whole community; Mr. Lamb said no. Mr. Walker said lessons from this event would be most compelling to focus on in a follow-up study. Mr. Bergman felt the activity went rapidly, he was unsure about language the leaders used, and he could not rank the options without knowing more. He felt like a student in a class and suggested more advanced participation might have been helpful. He said the PowerPoint presentations were illegible because the text was so small. He noted that Emily Vogler – the researcher who brought this idea to the City – did not introduce herself. Overall, he found the process interesting and useful as an opportunity to hear from diverse people.

Mr. Bergman recalled that the event was open to the public and asked how it was advertised. Mr. Lamb said it was advertised through all of the City's normal networks, including a public service announcement. Mr. Lamb agreed that things about the event could have been done differently, but it was set up entirely by the research team. He said perhaps the City could have been more aggressive in spreading the word. He recalled that this event was not about what to do with the dam, but about how communities may learn about and make decisions about dams of importance to the community. The researchers also held several focus groups where community stakeholders were invited directly and offered \$40 to attend. They had other ways of measuring how people make decisions in addition to information collected at the public event. Though this was not a City process, there is no reason the Commission cannot use the data generated when the time comes.

Mr. Reilly asked why decisions about the dam are still a few years out. Mr. Lamb said it is mostly because of the potential high financial impact to the City, so it is later in the Capital Improvement Program (CIP), most likely for 2024. From NH Department of Environmental Services (DES) perspective, the dam is a ranked lower priority because it poses minimal danger to the public; it is not holding back a lot of water like the water supply dams, for example. Staff does not anticipate DES questioning the City about the West Street Dam soon because the City has been working actively to repair other dams like Babbidge, Goose Pond, and Robin Hood. Mr. Bergman said the visual and social effects would be significant so it is important that the City knows public opinions.

Vice Chair Clark was surprised there was not more advertisement by the researchers; with their resources, she anticipated posters around town, for example. Mr. Lamb and Mr. Bergman agreed they expected more from the event. He added that the visuals presented were not impressive. He added that possibly in part because he and Mr. Haynes were so rushed to sign the consent and sit down, that they did not get to experience the poster visuals of options around the room.

#### c. Greater Goose Pond Forest Stewardship Plan Implementation

By reading through past minutes, Mr. Lamb and Chair Von Plinsky discovered areas that needed following-up with Mr. Bohannon, who was not available to attend this meeting. Mr. Bohannon is the center of much of this information and process. Mr. Lamb will invite Mr. Bohannon and other stakeholders to the July meeting to continue this conversation.

Mr. Bill said that many in the community consider Goose Pond as close to a natural area as possible in the Keene system. His wife has walked there for 30 years and is disappointed to see the level of disruption with the dam work. Mr. Bill's wife found a rattlesnake plantain plant, which was destroyed by log piles from the dam work; this is not a rare species, but it was in a rare location. He said it is unfortunate to see uninformed people affecting natural areas. He hopes there will be greater consideration of wildlife impacted by dam work moving forward. Mr. Lamb agreed that the valuable expertise of the Commission could help curb these mistakes by writing concerns into permits and contracts in advance. Once the space is turned over to the contractor, they use the information they have been given. At the end of the dam permitting process, especially for the road necessary to get to the dam, there were changes to the contract because the Commission found concerns about vernal pools. Mr. Bill suggested that as a part of the Master Plan, the Commission could visit proposed sites to check for unique features that could be impacted. Mr. Lamb said there is an upcoming contract for timber management and it will be important to flag these issues before work starts. Mr. Bergman said things like the National Heritage Bureau are a common way that communities and contractors identify species threatened

in the state and nationally. He agreed that while this plan does not identify endangered or threatened species in the forest, there are many species valuable to the community.

Ms. Burchsted said the Commission usually sees these projects at the last minute, with poor drawings. She questioned how this Commission with expertise can be seamlessly integrated into this permitting/contract process, without creating more work for staff or slowing the process. Mr. Lamb agreed that if this Commission knows about a project with enough lead-time, they could develop base information for engineers and wetland planners. In his experience, once contractors know about important natural areas, they are willing to avoid them. He liked this idea, especially with the timber harvest work.

Ms. Burchsted said the Commission's agenda is built by things going out to permit; the Commission is driven procedurally by approvals. She suggested there might be ways to use the CIP to build big upcoming projects into the Commission's yearly/quarterly agendas. Mr. Lamb said that was a good suggestion with the Commission's focus on conservation of City lands. He said the Goose Pond Dam project might have come to the Commission earlier, whereas many road or bridge projects might be better handled by a permit. When a list of projects comes through the CIP, this Commission can determine if they rise to any level of concern.

Mr. Bergman recalled that the stewardship plan describes timber harvesting in stages with maps and dates. He suggested that a SWOT (strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, & threats) team look at the earliest harvested patches to check for anything of concern. He questioned is there is sufficient lead-time to modify a contractors approach. Mr. Lamb said it would work if the input were before the bidding process. Mr. Lamb said the plan lists at least 1.5 years before any bids for timberwork, but this is a good time to start looking at that first quadrant. He said there are a lot more details to discuss with Mr. Bohannon and other stakeholders in July.

Mr. Bill agreed that input from stakeholders who use the forest a lot would be important. He suggested that if there would already be disruption for the dam, that perhaps the first parcel for timberwork should align with that work, to minimize disruption for roads and access; there was discussion of roads for dam work access.

Mr. Haynes stated that this conversation highlights the need for this group to be looking at the Goose Pond forest to identify options to coordinate all of these aspects and identify preliminary work needed. He thinks the discussion with Mr. Bohannon will be important to understand how he envisions the process.

Ms. Burchsted suggested a site visit and Mr. Lamb agreed. If the group first identifies what areas of the forest they want to look at, Mr. Littleton is always an important resource.

Mr. Reilly suggested there should be a Goose Pond advisory group separate from this Commission, because Commission membership turns over every six years. He said it might be good to have longer-term members in a separate group to ensure ideas transition well.

#### d. Easement Monitoring - Schedule

Mr. Lamb recommended that this item stay on the agenda. He reported that Chair Von Plinsky is considering splitting responsibility between interested Commission members to monitor four or five easements annually, following a training with the help of the Monadnock Conservancy.

#### 5) New or Other Business

Councilor Hansel requested more information and a presentation from the interim Airport Manager on the proposed fence at the airport. Mr. Lamb agreed it is a good time to start looking at that project.

Mr. Bergman said he understood the pressing FAA mandate for fencing to keep wildlife off airport runways, which is a consistent problem is Keene. Mr. Bergman recalled there were two fence alternatives listed in the Airport Master Plan and asked who will decide between the two options. Councilor Hansel and Mr. Lamb were unaware of who the Council will instruct to make that decision. Mr. Lamb recalled that the City only pays 5% of the total cost of these airport projects, the FAA and NHDOT pay for the rest. Mr. Lamb will report with more information in July because there are significant wetland impacts. Mr. Bergman noted rare bird species only observable from the shoulder of Airport Road. Councilor Hansel agreed that maintaining access to that shoulder for bird watching could help make Keene a destination, which is an important consideration.

Mr. Lamb recalled that Mr. Littleton's contract included a Geographic Information System story map, which is now available and he will share the link.

Mr. Lamb reported that the Beauregard property closing was scheduled for July 20.

#### 6) Adjournment

Hearing no further business, Vice Chair Clark adjourned the meeting at 5:32 PM.

Respectfully submitted by, Katryna Kibler, Minute Taker June 21, 2019

Reviewed by Rhett Lamb, ACM/Community Development Director Edits, Lee Langella

## Ashuelot River Local Advisory Committee

Washington Lempster Marlow Gilsum Sullivan Surry Keene Swanzey Winchester Hinsdale

June 25, 2019

Keene Conservation Commission 3 Washington Street Keene, NH 03431

**Dear Conservation Commissioners:** 

Thank for your generous contribution of \$930.00 in support of the Ashuelot River Local Advisory Committee's annual water quality monitoring program.

It is your support, along with the help of dedicated volunteers, which enables us to complete a regular assessment of the Ashuelot River including E. coli. The additional funds received along with some grant funding have enabled us to purchase updated equipment to remain accurate in our monitoring efforts. This year we purchased new Dissolved oxygen/Conductivity meters at a cost of \$1,542 each.

Thank you for your ongoing support!

Sincerely,

Barbara Skuly, Chairman

Ashuelot River LAC



Subject:

FW: Thank You

From: Barbara Richter < barbara@nhacc.org>
Sent: Wednesday, July 3, 2019 12:00 PM

To: Eloise Clark <clarktreat@myfairpoint.net>; Rhett Lamb <rlamb@ci.keene.nh.us>; Thomas Haynes

<piperhistoricalservices@gmail.com>; Brian Reilly <reillybj@ne.rr.com>; D Burchsted <dburchsted@keene.edu>; George

Hansel <ghansel@filtrine.com>

Subject: Thank You

Dear Keene CC,

Thank you very much for renewing your annual membership with NH Association of Conservation Commissions. While your check did not cover the full payment, we will continue to include you as a member in good standing. Please note that we calculate the dues based on population and appraised property values. Keene has received a discount in dues for the past several years but we always try to work with towns if they are having difficulty paying the full amount. I hope you will consider increasing your payment in 2020.

#### We really appreciate your continued support for the work of NHACC.

Last year, with your support, NHACC was able to:

- Track bills in the State Legislative Session to help keep our members informed and up-to-date on any bills that would affect CC or natural resources such as proposed changes to timelines for wetland permitting, defending current use and clarifying RSA 36-A;
- Lobby the legislature to support CC's ability to request extensions when reviewing wetland permit applications;
- Work closely with NH Dept. of Environmental Services on the Draft Wetland Rules review to ensure CC concerns are addressed;
- Coordinate regional roundtables to encourage networking and best practices;
- Provide technical assistance to CCs for help with conservation funding, land management, natural resource planning and working with other boards;
- Update the NHACC Handbook with relevant guidance and education or our members;
- Participate as a team member of Taking Action for Wildlife and the Community and Town and Community Forest Committee;
- Encourage schools to work with CC on environmental education programs through the School Partnership Program.

Again, many thanks for your Membership renewal and participation in your town's conservation commission. We look forward to working with you throughout the year.

Please feel free to contact me with any questions or concerns you may have regarding conservation in your community. **Don't forget to contact us if you have any** 

**new members on your commission.** New members can go to our website and sign up for our Enews. http://www.nhacc.org/members-welcome/

Regards,

Barbara

Barbara Richter, Executive Director NH Association of Conservation Commissions 54 Portsmouth Street Concord, NH 03301 603.224.7867



54 Portsmouth Street Concord, NH 03301 Tel. 603.224.9945 info@forestsociety.org www.forestsociety.org July 3, 2019

Lee Langella
City of Keene
Keene Conservation Commission
3 Washington St.
Keene, NH 03431

Dear Lee,

Thank you for your organization's membership renewal gift of \$45.00 on 6/24/2019. We are pleased to tell you that your donation is already hard at work protecting our state's forests, open spaces, and natural resources.

The Forest Society is committed more than ever to land protection and sustainable forest management across New Hampshire. Your generous support helps further our progressive work in other areas as well, namely research, policy, education, and outreach, and provides us with the resources necessary to advocate at the state level for balanced conservation policies.

Our quarterly magazine, *Forest Notes*, and our website at <u>www.forestsociety.org</u> will continue to provide you with information about field trips and special events, informative articles, and project updates. For news and updates between issues, I encourage you to sign up for our e-mail newsletter "Tree Mail" on our website's homepage.

Thank you again for partnering with the Forest Society as we work hard to achieve the goals set forth in our strategic vision, *New Hampshire Everlasting* – to protect one million acres by 2026.

If you have any questions about our work, please do not hesitate to call Sara Krzyzaniak or Margaret Liszka in our membership office at (603) 224-9945.

Jane C. Defley

Sincerely yours,

Jane A. Difley
President / Forester







#### The State of New Hampshire

### **Department of Environmental Services**



#### Robert R. Scott, Commissioner

# APPLICATION RETURNED DUE TO MISSING INFORMATION LAND RESOURCES MANAGEMENT WETLANDS BUREAU

August 01, 2019

TOWN OF SWANZEY C/O MICHAEL T BRANLEY PO BOX 10009 SWANZEY NH 03446

Re:

Wetlands Expedited Permit Application (RSA 482-A); NHDES File Number: 2019-02375 Subject Property: 75 Swanzey Factory Rd., Keene, Tax Map #248-041-000, Lot #248-039-000

#### Dear Applicant:

The New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES) received an application and supporting materials on **August 01, 2019** for the permit program and subject property referenced above. We have reviewed your application package in accordance with RSA 482-A:3, XIV. Your application package is being returned to you or your agent, if you have one, because it did not include the minimum elements required for NHDES to begin technical review. The item(s) below is/are missing from your application package:

- Town Tax Map
- Natural Heritage Bureau (NHB) file number on application or NHB letter with map is expired. Please provide an updated NHB file number on the application or NHB Letter with map.

If you have an agent, please work with them to revise and resubmit your application package. The applicant is expected to provide copies of missing or modified elements of the application package to the municipal clerk and others, in accordance with applicable statutes and regulations. If an application package containing the minimum elements required for NHDES to begin technical review is not received within 60 days of this notice, your application will be denied in accordance with RSA 482-A:3, XIV.

If you have any questions, please contact the NHDES Wetlands Bureau at (603) 271-2147.

Sincerely,

Wetlands Bureau Land Resources Management

cc: DuBois & King, Inc., c/o Charlotte M. Brodie
John D. Graves/Lorrie Elaine Ross
Stephen M. Brox
Keene Municipal Clerk
Keene Conservation Commission



#### Rhett Lamb

From:

David Patrick <david.patrick@TNC.ORG>

Sent:

Tuesday, August 13, 2019 10:01 AM

To:

Rhett Lamb

**Subject:** 

Introduction and advice on letter of support

**Attachments:** 

Surry Mtn Keene WHPA project.pdf

**Follow Up Flag:** 

Follow up Flagged

Flag Status:

Hi Rhett,

I left a brief message on your voicemail yesterday, but wanted to follow up to make sure you had my e-mail address and provide some further information. Jim O'Brien suggested I reach out to fill you in on a land protection opportunity we're pursuing in the town of Gilsum and to get your advice on securing a letter of support from the City of Keene.

In brief, we're looking to protect 1,368 acres just north of the city. Twenty percent (252 acres) of the property is within the wellhead protection area of the City of Keene's well, allowing us to apply for funding support from the Drinking Water and Groundwater Trust Fund (DWGTF); I've attached a map showing the property outline in orange and the wellhead protection area in the hatched pink. Securing this funding is an important component of our being able to successfully protect the property.

As part of the application, we're asked to provide "Letter(s) of support from the governing body (e.g., Board of Selectmen or City Council) of the municipality or municipalities in which the property is located and from affected water suppliers. The letter(s) should be addressed to the Drinking Water and Groundwater Advisory Commission". We're working with the towns of Gilsum and Surry, but it would be great if we can also have a letter from Keene. I'm also trying to determine if the City of Keene has "a land conservation plan that identifies the subject parcel(s) as high priority for conservation specifically for water supply protection". I've reached out to the Water Department on a couple of occasions, but have yet to hear back from them.

Any advice and support you can offer with securing a letter of support for the project is greatly appreciated. The application is due by September the 13th, Thanks.

Dave

David Patrick Ph.D.

Director of Conservation **Programs** david.patrick@tnc.org

(603) 230 9226

The Nature Conservancy in New Hampshire **Concord Office** 22 Bridge St., 4th Floor Concord, NH 03301





nature.org/newhampshire Join the conversation!





